#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., derivatively on behalf of Reading International, Inc.,

Appellant,

v.

DOUGLAS MCEACHERN, EDWARD KANE, JUDY CODDING, WILLIAM GOULD, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, AND NOMINAL DEFENDANT READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., A NEVADA CORPORATION Supreme Court Case No. 75053 Consolidated Excider Grase No Siled 77733, 76981 & 772482019 11:37 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

District Court Case No. A-15-719860-B

Coordinated with: Case No. P-14-0824-42-E

Respondents.

**Appeal** Eighth Judicial District Court, Dept. XI The Honorable Elizabeth G. Gonzalez

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF IN CASE NO. 77648

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under NRAP 3A(b)(8), which allows an appeal to be taken from a "special order entered after final judgment . . . ." On August 14, 2018, the district court entered final judgment against the last three director defendants. XXXIV JA8401-8411.<sup>1</sup> On November 6, 2018, the district court entered an order granting, in part, Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs, and judgment for costs ("Cost Judgment"), which is the subject of this appeal. LIII JA13163-13174. Cotter Jr. appealed from the Cost Judgment on December 6, 2018. LIII JA13220-13222.

#### II. ROUTING STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under NRAP 17(a)(9) because the case originated in business court. I. JA 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The district court previously dismissed the other five directors and certified the portion of its December 28, 2017 order granting summary judgment in their favor as final under NRCP 54(b). XXV JA6065-6071, JA6081-6091, JA6179-6181. The December 28, 2017 order is the subject of Appeal Case No. 75053. "JA" refers to the Joint Appendix filed in support of this Opening Brief and the Opening Brief filed in Case No. 76981, which, together with this case (Case No. 77648), is consolidated under Case No. 75053. *See* Order dated April 18, 2019.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the district court abuse its discretion by awarding the directors \$852,000 in expert witness fees when: (a) the experts did not testify in court; (b) none of the directors' dispositive motions relied on the experts' testimony; (c) all experts' invoices showed pervasive duplication of work and excessive staffing; and (d) the amount awarded per expert is more than 100 times the statutory \$1,500 maximum?

2. Did the district court err by treating Reading International Inc. ("RDI") as a "prevailing party" entitled to costs under NRS 18.020, where RDI: (a) was a mere nominal defendant; (b) did not prevail on any of its motions to defeat Cotter Jr.'s lawsuit; and (c) did not obtain a judgment in its favor?

3. If nominal defendant RDI is entitled to costs, did the district court abuse its discretion by awarding RDI \$581,718.69 in costs when most of its costs were unnecessary, excessive, and not supported by substantial evidence?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case.

This is a shareholder derivative action brought by Cotter Jr. on behalf of Reading International, Inc. ("RDI"), against eight directors for

breaches of their fiduciary duties owed to nominal defendant RDI and its shareholders. III JA519-575. Appellant Cotter Jr. is a substantial shareholder and a former director, President, and CEO of RDI. I JA78-79. Respondents Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter (collectively, the "Cotter sisters") are members of the RDI board of directors (the "Board") and at all times relevant hereto the controlling shareholder(s) of RDI. Id. The remaining individual respondents are or were members of the Board, as well as members of certain Board committees. I JA79-80; XX JA5053-5054 (¶¶ 20-25).<sup>2</sup>

#### Course of the proceedings and disposition below. Β.

Cotter Jr. filed his derivative complaint on June 12, 2015. I JA1. After discovery and two rounds of (partial) motions for partial summary judgment, the district court on December 28, 2017, granted summary judgment in favor of five of the eight director defendants on the grounds that Cotter Jr. had failed to raise genuine issues of material fact as to their disinterestedness or independence. XXV JA6065-6071. The December 28, 2017 order dismissing the five directors, which was certified as final under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Director William Gould passed away on August 6, 2018. LII JA12894-95. 3

NRCP 54(b) on January 4, 2018, XXV JA6182-88, is the subject of Appeal No. 75053.

On August 14, 2018, the district court granted summary judgment in favor of the remaining three director defendants on the grounds that an independent majority of directors had ratified the decisions that formed the basis of Cotter Jr.'s derivative claims against them, and that the ratification decisions were protected by the business judgment rule. XXXIV JA8401-8410. The district court entered its findings of fact and conclusions of law and judgment on August 14, 2018. Notice of entry of the judgment was given on August 16, 2019. XXXIV JA8412. The August 14, 2018 judgment is the subject of Appeal No. 76981.

After entry of the August 14, 2018 judgment, RDI filed a Memorandum of Costs for \$2.9 million on its behalf and on behalf of all director defendants. XXXIV JA8426-8906. Cotter Jr. filed a Motion to Retax Costs. X XXVI JA8915-9018. On November 6, 2018, the district court entered an order granting in part and denying in part Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Retax Costs and entered a cost judgment for \$1,554,319.73 (the "Cost Judgment"). LIII JA13163-13167. The Cost Judgment is the subject of this appeal.

On September 9, 2018, RDI filed a Motion for Attorneys' Fees on its behalf and on behalf of all director defendants. XXXVI JA9019-9101. On September 12, 2018, RDI filed a Motion for Judgment in its Favor. XXXVII JA9102-9107. On November 16, 2018, the district court entered an order denying RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees, and an order denying RDI's Motion for Judgment in its Favor. LIII JA13175-13198. These two orders are the subject of Appeal No. 77733.

On November 26, 2018, Cotter Jr. moved for reconsideration and amendment of the Cost Judgment on an expedited basis, asking the district court to reduce the Cost Judgment by \$581,718.69—the amount of costs awarded to nominal defendant RDI. LIII JA13199-131207. The district court denied Cotter Jr.'s motion for reconsideration by order dated December 6, 2018. LIII JA13216-13219. Cotter Jr. timely appealed from the Cost Judgment that same day. LIII JA13220-13222.

#### V. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

#### A. The Litigation

1. Cotter Jr.'s derivative complaint.

On June 12, 2015, appellant Cotter Jr. filed a derivative lawsuit against eight directors in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada. I JA1-29. He named RDI as a nominal defendant. I JA1. Cotter

Jr.'s lawsuit set out four causes of action for breaches of fiduciary duty and sought injunctive relief, as well as damages, on behalf RDI and himself. I JA28 (¶ 133).

Director William Gould was represented by Los Angeles-based law firm Bird Marella P.C., as well as Washoe County-based law firm Maupin, Cox & LeGoy. III JA576. Directors Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, Guy Adams, Edward Kane, Judy Codding, and Michael Wrotniak (collectively, the "Cotter directors") were represented by the Los Angelesbased law firm of Quinn Emanuel Urquhart & Sullivan, LLP ("Quinn Emanuel"), and local counsel Cohen, Johnson, Parker, Edwards ("Cohen Johnson"). I JA48. Nominal defendant RDI was represented by the Las Vegas office of Greenberg Traurig ("Greenberg"). I JA105.

#### 2. The T2 Plaintiffs' derivative complaint.

In August 2015, a number of RDI shareholders, including T2 Partners Management, L.P. (collectively, the "T2 Plaintiffs"), were allowed to intervene in the lawsuit and filed their own derivative complaint. I JA109-126.

### 3. Nominal defendant RDI defends against the derivative complaints filed on its behalf.

Although all Cotter Jr.'s breach of fiduciary duty claims were made against the individual directors on RDI's behalf, nominal defendant RDI, through its outside counsel Greenberg Traurig, actively defended against Cotter Jr.'s lawsuit and claims throughout the entire litigation. For example, RDI filed a motion to compel arbitration, arguing (unsuccessfully) that the derivative case Cotter Jr. had filed on its behalf was merely an effort to get his job back. I JA127-148. RDI filed answers to Cotter Jr.'s complaints and asked that the claims filed against the directors be dismissed. II JA397-418; XX JA4891-4916. RDI filed joinders to all six motions for partial summary judgment filed by the Cotter directors and filed a reply in support of Gould's separate motion for summary judgment. XV JA3707-3808; XVI JA3806-3814, JA3921-4014; XIX JA4568-4609. RDI's counsel attended each motion hearing and made arguments on the merits of Cotter Jr.'s fiduciary duty claims in court, over the objection of Cotter Jr.'s counsel. IXX JA4805.

In the process of defending the directors, nominal defendant RDI incurred more than \$1,200,000 in costs. XXXIV JA8430-8431.

B. The Discovery.

1. Cotter Jr. and the T2 Plaintiffs seek written discovery.

On August 14, 2015, Cotter served six document requests on the director defendants and RDI seeking documents going back to January 1, 2014. LII JA12809-12818. Three days later, the T2 Plaintiffs served six document requests on the director defendants and RDI, one of which sought documents going back to June 2013. LII JA12966-12975.

When serving responses to the first set of document requests of Cotter Jr. and the T2 Plaintiffs, RDI advised that it had "imaged RDI's server. . ." LII JA12989-13007. Indeed, the September 2015 invoice of its ESI-vendor, Navigant, showed that 1,801 GB of data were uploaded at a cost of \$90,000. XLI JA10137. Navigant's total invoice that month was \$166,921.99. XLI JA10136-10138.

Navigant not only provided ESI services for Cotter Jr.'s derivative lawsuit and the T2 Plaintiffs' derivative lawsuit but also the employment arbitration RDI had initiated against Cotter Jr. in July 2015, and the trust and estate litigation the Cotter sisters had initiated against Cotter Jr. in February of 2015—both of which were pending in Los Angeles,

California, where Navigant was based. I JA98, I JA130, JA146; XXI JA5061 (¶ 102); XXXIV JA8514-8515.<sup>3</sup>

Navigant had invoiced RDI, Greenberg, and Quinn Emanuel more than \$400,000 in ESI costs between August 2015 and February 2016, XXXIV JA8514-8515, but as of February 18, 2016, the directors had collectively produced only 3,300 documents (representing 12,900 pages), while RDI had produced 6,200 documents. II JA358-59, JA366.

#### 2. The parties take out-of-state depositions.

In 2016, the parties' counsel took a number of party and thirdparty depositions, most of which took place in Los Angeles and New York. XXXIV JA8441; XXXVI JA8831-8838, JA8891-94. RDI's counsel attended all depositions, incurring \$23,942.59 for travel costs. XXXVII JA9169-9182. Counsel for Gould and counsel for the Cotter directors each ordered copies of the deposition transcripts. XXXIV JA8430. RDI's counsel, Greenberg, ordered its own copies of all deposition transcripts, incurring \$53,344.70 in costs. *Id.* In all, the directors and RDI incurred \$164,628.25 for deposition court reporter fees. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> RDI was initially represented by Akin Gump in the arbitration, XXXIV JA8514-15; I JA146 but was later replaced by Greenberg. XXXIV JA8515-8516.

#### 3. The directors retain five experts.

Starting in May 2016—two months before the initial expert disclosure deadline, II JA465—the directors retained a number of experts. XXXIV JA8522-8526; XXXV JA8638-8800.

The Cotter directors retained an initial expert on corporate governance, Michael Klausner. XXXIV JA8522; XXXV JA8638-8640. They also retained an initial damages expert, Richard Roll, to address Cotter Jr.'s allegation that RDI's stock suffered in value after Cotter Jr.'s termination. XXXIV JA8522-8523; XXXV JA8678-8680. Director Gould, a corporate attorney and co-author of a treatise on corporate governance,<sup>4</sup> retained an expert on corporate governance, Alfred Osborne. XXXVI JA8860-8862, 8876-8881.

After Cotter Jr. disclosed Myron T. Steele, a former Chief Justice of the Delaware Supreme Court ("Steele") as his initial expert on corporate governance and Mr. Tiago Duarte-Silva as his damages expert, the directors retained two additional (rebuttal) damages experts: (1) Dr. Bruce Strombom, to address the opinions held and the measure of damages

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See Wynn Resorts, Ltd. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 52, 399 P.3d 334, 343 (Nev. 2017) (citing Joseph F. Troy & William D. Gould, ADVISING & DEFENDING CORPORATE DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS § 3.15 (Cal CEB rev. ed. 2007).

applied by Duarte-Silva; and (2) Jonathan Foster, to address certain opinions by Duarte-Silva concerning damages sustained as a result of the unsolicited offer from a third party, Patton Vision LLC ("Patton Vision offer"). XXXIV JA8522-8524 (¶ 7(a)-(d)).

### 4. The directors incur \$1,400,000 in expert witness costs.

Gould's corporate governance expert, Osborne, charged the highest hourly rate: \$1,500 per hour. XXXVI JA8877. The Cotter directors' experts Roll, Foster, Klausner, and Strombom charged \$1,200, \$990, \$950, and \$690 per hour, respectively. XXXIV JA8524. But unlike Osborne, each of the four Cotter director experts used a support staff of five or more individuals who charged between \$275 and \$720 per hour and billed the directors hundreds of hours for their support. *E.g.*, XXXV JA8656, JA8721, JA8739. The total amount of fees charged by the directors' five experts were as follows:

Richard Roll	\$425,165.00
Michael Klausner	\$447,764.91
Jonathan Foster	\$201,814.53
Alfred Osborne	\$176,655
Dr. Bruce Strombom	\$152,352.50
Total	\$1,403,751.94

XXXIV JA8522-8524 (¶ 7(a)-(d)).

- C. The Motions for Summary Judgment.
  - 1. The Cotter directors file six motions for partial summary judgment; none relies on expert testimony.

On September 23, 2016, the director defendants other than Gould filed six motions for partial summary judgment ("Partial MSJs") on specific issues, such as Cotter Jr.'s termination (No. 1), the director independence (No. 2), and the Patton Vision offer (No. 3). VI JA1486-XIV JA3336.

But none of the six Partial MSJs relied on, attached, or referenced the testimony or opinions of the four experts they had retained. *See id.; e.g.*, VII JA1526-1548; XVIII JA4518-4567, JA4313-4314. The Cotter directors only cited and attached Cotter Jr.'s damages expert's report to one of their Partial MSJs. VII JA1548; IX JA2137-2194.<sup>5</sup> When the Cotter directors filed a Supplement to their Partial MSJs in November 2017—a year after the four experts were disclosed and deposed—they still did not rely on, reference, or attach any of their experts' deposition testimony. XX JA4981-5024. Their counsel also did not quote or rely on their experts'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This exhibit is one of many exhibits included in the Joint Appendix filed in Case No. 75053, which were ordered sealed by the Court's minute order dated April 18, 2019.

deposition testimony during oral argument on the motions in October 2016 and December 2017. XIX JA4736-XX JA4890; XXIII JA5718-5792.

# 2. Gould's motion for summary judgment also ignores his expert's testimony.

Director Gould filed a separate motion for summary judgment ("MSJ") based on his independence and disinterestedness. III-VI JA576-JA1400. Gould's MSJ was based on fact testimony only. *Id.* While Gould attached excerpts of expert Osborne's *report* to his MSJ and Reply, he mainly relied on the testimony of Cotter Jr. and *Cotter Jr. 's* expert witness—Steele. III JA583-619; V JA1078-1151; XIX JA4610-4677, JA4641-4648; JA4666-4672; XXII JA5559-5685. None of Gould's motion papers relied on or attached Osborne's deposition testimony. *See id.* 

### 3. The district court grants summary judgment in favor of five of the eight directors.

In October 2016, the district court denied most (Partial) MSJs. XX JA4917-4927. But following a second hearing on December 11, 2017, after the parties completed discovery and supplemented their motion papers, the district court granted summary judgment in favor of directors Gould, Codding, Wrotniak, McEachern, and Kane on the grounds that Cotter Jr. had failed to raise genuine issues of material fact as to the independence and disinterestedness of these five directors. XXIII JA57185892; XXV JA6065-6071. The district court denied summary judgment as to the Cotter sisters and Adams. *Id.* 

The district court certified as final that portion of its December 28, 2017 order dismissing the five director defendants by order dated January 4, 2018. XXV JA6179-6181. But at no time before his death in August 2018 did dismissed director Gould—the only director who was represented by separate counsel—submit a bill for his costs. XXXIV JA8426-8431.

# D. The December 2017 ratification of the 2015 Termination and Share Option Decisions.

The dismissal of Cotter Jr.'s claims against five directors narrowed Cotter Jr.'s derivative claims against the Cotter sisters and Adams to two principal decisions in which they had a determinative say: (1) the June 12, 2015 decision by directors Adams, Kane, McEachern and the Cotter sisters to terminate Cotter Jr. as CEO of RDI ("Termination Decision"); and (2) the September 2015 decision by directors Adams and Kane to allow the Cotter sisters to exercise an option to purchase 100,000 shares of Class B voting stock in RDI held by the Estate of Cotter, Sr. and use Class A Stock to pay for the exercise of the option (the "Share Option Decision"). XXIII JA5691 (B.1. and B.2.). Trial against these directors on Cotter Jr.'s fiduciary duty claims related to these two Decisions was scheduled on start January 8, 2018. XXV JA6281-6294.

But on December 21, 2017, RDI's counsel—who was concurrently preparing the Cotter sisters for trial, XXXVII JA9206 telephonically met with RDI's "Special Independent Committee ("SIC"), which had only been created a few months earlier, and discussed ratification of the Termination and Share Option Decisions with the SIC. XXVI JA6513B; XXVII JA6746, JA6761-6765; XXXI JA7652, JA7659-7665. Following the SIC meeting, ratification of the Termination and Share Option Decisions was put on the agenda of the December 29, 2017, special board meeting, and the five recently dismissed directors voted to ratify the Decisions. XXV JA6153-6161, JA6224A-F; JA6281; XXX JA7506.

# 1. The district court allows limited discovery on ratification and the defendants stall to provide it.

Days after the special board meeting, on the eve of trial, the Cotter sisters and Adams filed a Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law, arguing that the recent ratification vote that Greenberg facilitated entitled them to judgment on all Cotter Jr.'s derivative claims. XXV JA6192-6224. But the district court denied the Motion as untimely filed. XXV JA6273-6274. After continuing the trial for unrelated reasons, the district court allowed Cotter Jr. 75 days to conduct discovery on the December 29, 2017 ratification. XXV JA6290.

During this brief discovery period, the defendants incurred more than \$90,000 in E-discovery costs, XXXIV JA8515-8516, but did not timely produce all ratification documents requested by Cotter Jr. and ordered by the district court-most importantly, those concerning the December 21, 2017 SIC meeting. XXVI JA6432-6561. Cotter filed a number of discovery motions to obtain the documents, all of which the district court granted, in part. XXV-XXVI JA6298-6561, XXIX-XXXI JA7222-7607; XXXIV JA8395-8400, JA8398-8399. The district court also held an evidentiary hearing on the circumstances of the directors' failure to timely produce the minutes of the December 21, 2017 SIC meeting. XXVII JA6727-XXVIII JA6815. Following the evidentiary hearing, the district court compelled the defendants to produce all ratification documents, regardless of time. XXVII JA6805.

But even after being compelled to produce documents—and despite incurring more than \$100,000 in ESI costs between January and July 2018, XXXIV JA8515-8516—the directors and RDI did not timely produce or log all responsive documents that the court ordered them to produce.

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