IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., derivatively on behalf of Reading International, Inc., Appellant,	Electronically Filed Supreme CourtuGa20 2019505554 p.m. Consolidated With Getse AN Brown 76981, 77648 CTATA Of Supreme Court
v. DOUGLAS MCEACHERN, EDWARD KANE, JUDY CODDING, WILLIAM GOULD, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, and nominal defendant READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., A NEVADA CORPORATION) District Court Case No. A-15-719860-B) Coordinated with: Case No. P-14-0824-42-E
Respondents.)

Appeal (77733) Eighth Judicial District Court, Dept. XI The Honorable Elizabeth G. Gonzalez

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF IN CASE NO. 77733

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

⁹ See Case Nos. 71267, 72261, and 74759.

In *Chowdhry*, a doctor received a reprimand after he refused to return to the North Las Vegas hospital to treat his patient there and insisted on having her transported to another hospital. *Chowdhry*, 109 Nev. at 480, 851 P.2d at 460-61. The doctor unsuccessfully sued the emergency doctor and nurse who prepared the incident reports, the hospital, and others for negligence and a number of other tort claims. *Id.* at 481, 851 P.2d at 461. There, the district court found that the doctor's lawsuit "was made in a vindictive and unjustified effort and it was nothing more than his chance to grill his enemies and it became that, a little feud within this circle." *Id.* at 486-87, 851 P.2d at 464. This Court disagreed, finding "no support for the conclusion reached by the district judge concerning ... [a] motivation to harass." Id. at 487, 851 P.2d at 464 (also pointing to the jury's finding that the doctor had not abandoned his patient and that others were also negligent, albeit only to a much lesser extent than the doctor).

Harassment must be "objectively tested" based on record evidence of a party's litigation conduct, rather than on how the lawsuit is "subjectively" perceived by the opponent. *See id.* (finding no support in the record for the district court's finding and belief that the plaintiff's lawsuit was "nothing more than his chance to grill his enemies"); *Zaldivar v. City of Los Angeles*, 780 F.2d 823, 831-32 (9th Cir. 1986), *abrogated on*

other grounds, Cooter & Gell, v. Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384 (1990))

("Harassment under Rule 11 focuses upon the improper purpose of the signer, objectively tested, rather than the consequences of the signer's act, subjectively viewed by the signer's opponent"). Without such standard, every complaint could be deemed to "harass" the other side.

"Without question, successive complaints based upon propositions of law previously rejected may constitute harassment []." *Zaldivar,* 780 F.2d at 832 (discussing FRCP 11); *accord Sargeant v. Henderson Taxi,* Case No. 70837, 2017 WL 10242277, at *1 (Nev. Dec. 1, 2017) (unpublished opinion) (affirming district court's order awarding a portion of Henderson Taxi's attorneys' fees where "Sargeant embarked on a series of filings that sought to revisit the court's denial of class certification, prolonging the litigation without advancing or redefining his remaining claims").

Here, by contrast, there is no such objective evidence, as RDI's Opening Brief tacitly concedes. In fact, RDI's Opening Brief barely touches on the harassment basis to support attorneys' fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) and provides no analysis of this factor. Its argument that Cotter Jr.'s claims were brought "for purposes of harassment" and that the district court ignored the defendants' evidence to support it, OB at 23-25, is wholly conclusory: RDI did not identify any objective evidence of harassment the district court allegedly ignored, and there is none.¹⁰

Indeed, unlike the plaintiff in *Sargeant*, Cotter Jr. did not "embark[] on a series of filings" to revisit the district court's adverse rulings and thereby needlessly prolong the case. Cotter Jr.'s Second Amended Complaint was based on new events that further supported his initial claims rather than on previously rejected legal propositions. I RDI-A00482-00538. Until December 28, 2017, Cotter Jr. had *prevailed* on most dispositive motions. VI RDI-A08630-08633; VII RDI-A09595-09601; I RA192-197. The few motions for reconsideration Cotter Jr. filed involved entirely different issues, were promptly filed and decided, and not renewed. VII RDI-A09595-09601; III RA518-524; VIII RDI-A10774-10774; IV RA894-900. By contrast, the directors and RDI filed **three** motions to

¹⁰ Ironically, in the California trust and estate litigation RDI keeps bringing up in an effort to disparage Cotter Jr. and impugn his motive for filing this derivative action, the guardian *ad litem* this month filed a petition to appoint an independent trustee to negotiate with Patton Vision LLC, which the Cotter sisters and the Board to date had refused to do. II RDI-A02809-02815. Their refusal to negotiate with Patton Vision was the subject of Partial MSJ No. 3. *See* II RDI-A02809-03039. The fact that an independent fiduciary agrees with Cotter Jr. disproves any notion that his claims in this case were filed merely to harass his sisters and other Board members.

dismiss based on demand futility, even though the first had already been denied in 2015. I RA195-197; III RA469-477; VII RDI-A10552 D-10552 M.

Cotter Jr. also did not needlessly prolong the case or abuse the discovery process. As RDI admits, he sought expedited discovery at the outset to which the defendants were slow to respond. I RDA-A00033-00064, RDI-A000154-000182. He filed several discovery motions based on the *defendants*' failure to timely produce documents, all of which the district court granted in full or in part. II RA270-272; IV RA852-854, RA855-857. If the discovery on ratification prolonged the case, it was only because the *defendants* (1) did not take a ratification vote until December 29, 2017, on the eve of trial; (2) filed an untimely Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law based on the ratification on the eve of trial; and (3) did not timely produce all relevant ratification documents and privilege logs to Cotter Jr.'s counsel after the district court allowed discovery on the subject. II RA270-272; III RA539-555; IV RA852-857. The district court even imposed an evidentiary sanction against the defendants for their belated and incomplete production of the ratification documents. IV RA834. Cotter Jr. was never sanctioned by the district court.

Moreover, where, as here, a plaintiff makes non-frivolous claims, it is irrelevant that his "motives for asserting those claims are not entirely pure." *Townsend v. Holman Consulting Corp.*, 929 F. 2d 1358, 1362 (9th Cir. 1990) (citing *Zaldivar*, 780 F.2d at 834). A "nonfrivolous complaint cannot be said to be filed for an improper purpose." *Greenberg v. Sala*, 822 F.2d 882, 885 (9th Cir. 1987). It is thus irrelevant if Cotter Jr. or his counsel threatened the RDI board with litigation, as RDI maintains, because he had an objectively reasonable basis to file and pursue his litigation.¹¹ As set out above, the record of the district court's many rulings in Cotter Jr.'s favor refutes any notion that his claims on behalf of RDI were brought for an improper purpose.

B. RDI and director Gould were not entitled to attorneys' fees in any event.

Even assuming RDI and the Cotter directors had established that the district court abused its discretion in denying attorneys' fees—they have not—the district court's order should be affirmed as to RDI and Gould on the alternative grounds that the first was not a "prevailing party" and the second was too late in moving for fees, as set out below.

¹¹ Again, if harassment could be proven merely on a party's utterances before a lawsuit is filed, then all plaintiffs warning their opponents they will "see them in court" unless their demands are met could subject themselves to attorneys' fees for "harassment" and the American Rule would become the exception rather than the Rule.

1. RDI is not a prevailing party.

To be entitled to attorneys' fees, one must be "a prevailing party" NRS 18.010(2)(b). A party "prevail[s] under NRS 18.010 if it succeeds on any *significant* issue in litigation which achieves some of the benefit it sought in bringing suit." *MB America, Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing Co.,* 132 Nev. 78, 88, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292 (2016) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted) (emphasis added). "A party to an action cannot be considered a prevailing party within the contemplation of NRS 18.010, where the action has not proceeded to judgment." *N. Nevada Homes, LLC v. GL Constr., Inc.,* 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 60, 422 P.3d 1234, 1237 (2018) (quotation omitted).

Here, RDI is not a "prevailing party." First, it was a mere nominal defendant. I RDI-A00001. A nominal defendant is the "real party in interest" on whose behalf the derivative case is brought. *Ross v. Bernhard*, 396 U.S. 531, 538-39 (1970). Cotter Jr. did not bring any claims against RDI and did not seek damages or injunctive relief *against* RDI but *on behalf of* RDI. I RDI-A00029 (¶¶ 133-134), RDI-A00131 (¶¶ 192-193) ("the Company . . . ha[s] suffered . . . injury"); I RDI-A00526; RDI-A00534 (¶ 202), RDI-A00535 (¶ 5) (seeking "damages incurred *by RDI*. . . .") (emphasis added).

Second, RDI did not prevail on any issue, let alone a "significant issue" in the case. RDI *lost* all its "demand futility" motions. I RA188 (at 16:2-30); I RA195-197; III RA539-555; VIII RDI-A10779-10782. RDI could not unilaterally (and artificially) transform itself into a "prevailing party" by joining in the individual defendants' Partial MSJs and Gould's MSJ, when Cotter Jr. made no claims against it, as RDI now admits. OB at 6.¹²

Third, RDI did not obtain a judgment against Cotter Jr. The district court only entered judgment in favor of the individual defendants. VII RDI-A10542-10552. This was not an oversight, as RDI argues, OB at 24; it was deliberate: the district court correctly denied RDI a judgment in its favor because it was a nominal defendant. VIII RDI-A10780. Thus, there was no legal basis—*none*—on which to award RDI attorneys' fees even assuming RDI had met its burden under NRS 18.010.

2. Gould's request for attorneys' fees was untimely.

Rule 54(d)(2)(B) provides, in relevant part, that a motion for attorneys' fees "must be filed no later than 20 days after notice of entry of

¹² RDI abandoned the frivolous argument it made below that "Defendants" encompassed RDI, even though Cotter Jr. made claims for breaches of fiduciary duty, which clearly addressed the "individual defendants."

judgment is served" and that the "time for filing the motion may not be extended by the court after it has expired." NRCP 54(d)(2)(B).

Post-judgment motions to amend move the filing deadline to "20 days after the resolution of the last post-judgment tolling motion." *Barbara Ann Hollier Tr. v. Shack,* 131 Nev. 582, 591, 356 P.3d 1085, 1091 (2015). But once that 20-day period expires, the last sentence of NRCP 54(d)(2)(B) prohibits courts from further extending the deadline. *Shack,* 131 Nev. at 591, 356 P.3d at 1091.

Here, the district court's December 28, 2017 order granted summary judgment in favor of Gould on all Cotter Jr.'s claims. VII RDI-A09595-09601. This portion of the order was certified as final under Nev. R. Civ. P. 54(b) on January 4, 2018. VII RDI-A09611-09615; III RA478-484. Cotter Jr.'s motion for reconsideration was denied by order dated January 4, 2018. VII RDI-A09610-09612. Notice of entry of that order was given on January 5, 2018. III RA518-524. Thus, Gould had 20 days from January 5, 2018, to file his motion for attorneys' fees. Because the time to do so had already "expired" on January 25, 2018, it no longer could "be extended by the court " Nev. R. Civ. P. 54(d)(2)(B). RDI's September 7, 2018 Fee Motion—purportedly filed on behalf of Gould as well—was therefore months too late. RDI's Opening Brief does not raise the (un)timeliness of Gould's request for attorneys' fees. " 'Issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are [generally] deemed waived.' " *Bertsch v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 33, 396 P.3d 769, 772 (2017) (quoting *Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 127 Nev. 156, 161 n.3, 252 P.3d 668, 672 n.3 (2011)) (internal quotation marks omitted). Although the Court recently granted Gould's counsel more time to move for substitution in this case, Mr. Gould's rights expired before his death on August 6, 2018, IV RA866-868, and cannot be revived on appeal. Gould would therefore not be entitled to attorneys' fees in any event.

C. The sheer size of RDI's attorneys' fees also warranted an outright denial of fees.

Where, as here, courts have discretion to award attorney's fees under a fee-shifting statute, "such discretion includes the ability to deny a fee altogether when, under the circumstances, the amount requested is outrageously excessive." *Clemens v. N.Y. Cent. Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 903 F.3d 396, 398 (3d Cir. 2018) (citing *Brown v. Stackler*, 612 F.2d 1057, 1059 (7th Cir. 1980); *Envtl. Def. Fund, Inc. v. Reilly*, 1 F.3d 1254, 1258–60 (D.C. Cir. 1993); *Fair Hous. Council of Greater Wash. v. Landow*, 999 F.2d 92, 97 (4th Cir. 1993); *Lewis v. Kendrick*, 944 F.2d 949, 956–58 (1st Cir. 1991)). In *Clemens,* counsel for the prevailing plaintiff—who was awarded \$100,000 in punitive damages under Pennsylvania's bad faith statute—filed a request for \$946,526.43 in fees and costs. *Clemens,* 903 F.3d at 398. The district court awarded \$0 because it found, *inter alia,* that: (1) most billed hours were not adequately described or supported; (2) the motion did not explain which one of the many attorneys working on the case performed which task; and (3) the 562 hours spent to prepare for trial were "outrageous" given the straightforward nature of the case. *Id.* at 399, 401.

Here, the **\$15.9 million dollars** in legal fees incurred by the directors and RDI were equally "outrageous" and justify affirming the district court's order denying attorneys' fees on this alternative ground, as in *Clemens*. RDI alone incurred almost **\$3 million** in attorneys' fees. As a mere nominal defendant, it should have limited its legal fees to those related to Cotter Jr.'s standing to bring suit. *See Patrick v. Alacer Corp.*, 167 Cal. App. 4th 995, 1005, 84 Cal. Rptr. 3d 642, 652 (2008) ("a nominal defendant corporation generally may not defend a derivative action filed

on its behalf"). Yet, RDI had **23 timekeepers** working on the case, and, as in *Clemens*, RDI did not identify the roles of any of them. VIII RDI-A10585.¹³

The Cotter directors spent **\$11.7 million** in legal fees—\$1.7 million more than the \$10 million D&O policy limit of which they were well aware—and this before trial on the merits had even begun. VIII RDI-A10586-10608. They were represented by more than eight Quinn Emanuel attorneys who billed between \$365 and \$1,147 per hour. VIII RDI-A10588-10591.

Director Gould was represented by a total of **nine** attorneys: six Bird Marella attorneys and three Nevada attorneys. VIII RDI-A10602-10604, RDI-A10607-10608. He incurred **\$1.4 million** in attorneys' fees before trial. *Id*.

The RDI directors' failure to monitor their attorneys' fees, allowing them to exceed the D&O policy, is a testament of reckless and irresponsible corporate governance. Just the \$11.7 million in legal fees incurred by the Cotter directors translates into \$325,000 per month. VIII

¹³ The parties' stipulation that RDI was not required to submit billing records with its Fee Motion until further order of the district court did not relieve RDI from its obligation to list the attorneys who worked on the case and their billable hour. IV RA858-865. RDI only provided the "hourly rate ranges" of the 23 timekeepers without saying what hourly rate was charged to RDI and who worked when on this case. VIII RDI-A1-585.

RDI-A10593 (¶ 21). In the first month of litigation alone, Quinn Emanuel billed more than \$120,000. VIII RDI-A10592-10593 (¶ 20). By November 2015—months before depositions were taken or scheduled—Quinn Emanuel's monthly bill was almost half a million dollars. *Id.* Quinn Emanuel billed the Cotter directors more than \$3 million between February and August 2016—*i.e.*, \$500,000 per month. *Id.*

RDI will likely argue in its Reply that this case is unlike *Clemens,* because RDI's legal bills and those of the directors were not submitted to the court and found to be inadequately described. But that argument would miss the point: no amount of detail in the billing entries could excuse the astonishing amount of legal fees incurred by the directors and RDI on a monthly basis. The sheer excessiveness of the defendants' attorneys' fees therefore provides an alternative ground to affirm the order denying attorney's fees.

D. RDI's appeal from the order denying judgment in its favor is procedurally and substantively defective.

RDI's cursory argument to support overturning the district court's order denying its Motion for Judgment in its Favor, OB at 50-52, betrays its weakness and patently fails to show an abuse of discretion.

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